ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION
APPELLATE CASE NO: 2015-001862
WCC FILE NO: 1107022

RECEIVED

Sandy Chamblee, Appellant,

v.

Anderson County Fire Department, Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier,
Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. THOMPSON, JR.
P.O. Box 14230
Anderson, South Carolina 29624
(864) 222-0200
Attorney for Appellant

82

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AND HOLD THAT THE CLAIMANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH A COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT OCCURRING ON MAY 26, 2011, SINCE THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD CLEARLY ESTABLISHED THAT THE CLAIMANT'S LUNG INJURY WAS CAUSED BY EXPOSURE OF SMOKE ON THAT DATE?**

- 2. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AND HOLD THAT THE CLAIMANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROOF THAT SHE SUSTAINED AN AGGRAVATION OF HER PRE-EXISTING ASTHMA CONDITION ARISING OUT AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT DUE TO HER EXPOSURE TO SMOKE ON MAY 16, 2011 SINCE THE CLAIMANT'S TESTIMONY ALONE IS SUFFICIENT ALONE TO CARRY THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN A WORKER'S COMPENSATION CASE IN SOUTH CAROLINA?**

- 3. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN ALLOWING AND CONSIDERING TESTIMONY ON THE ISSUE OF THE TIME WHEN THE EMPLOYER WAS NOTIFIED OF CLAIMANT'S ALLEGED INJURY BECAUSE THE EMPLOYEE'S FIRST REPORT OF INJURY FORM 12-A INDICATES THAT THE EMPLOYER WAS NOTIFIED ON MAY 26, 2011?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Claimant timely filed a Form 50 with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission on July 25, 2013 alleging an injury at work on May 25, 2011 caused by the inhalation of smoke. The claimant was denied by the Employer's filing of a Form 51 on December 20, 2013. An amended Form 50 and an amended Form 51 were later filed.

The case was heard by a single hearing commissioner on November 6, 2014 in Anderson, South Carolina. A decision adhered to the claimant was filed on March 2, 2015.

The claimant filed a request for review by an appellant panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission which heard the matter and issued a decision adhere to claimant to the claimant on August 5, 2015. The decision was the Final decision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

A timely filed Notice of Appeal was filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on or about September 1, 2015.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE CLAIMANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH A COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT OCCURRING ON MAY 26, 2011, SINCE THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD CLEARLY ESTABLISHED THAT THE CLAIMANT'S LUNG INJURY WAS CAUSED BY EXPOSURE OF SMOKE ON THAT DATE.

Sandy Chamblee was a 26 year employee of the Anderson County Fire Department serving as a Fire Marshal. (ROA pg. 91). (see ROA deposition of Sandy Chamblee pgs. 467 lines 21 through 25). Her birth date was 12-27-1962. (ROA pg. 110). She had a life-long history of asthma. (ROA 92). On May 26, 2011, Sandy, with a co-worker, Larry Greer went to install a smoke detector at a house in Anderson County. Sandy suffered from a cold that day. (ROA pgs. 93 through 94). (It is noteworthy that the Defendant's expert Dr. Feltman testified by deposition that people with asthma get colds on a frequent basis and frequently attempt to work through their asthma.) (Deposition of Dr Feltman, ROA pg. 650). See also ROA 652 line 1 though ROA 652 line 20). Sandy's job duties had not included active fire fighting, for several years. (ROA pg.110).

Enroute to install the smoke detector, Sandy Chamblee and Larry Greer came upon a grass fire in progress. (ROA pg. 93-94). Larry Greer stopped to see if he could assist in fighting the fire and Sandy Chamblee remained in the truck. Then the wind changed and the smoke from the fire drifted toward the truck. (ROA 95). Sandy testified that she had been exposed to smoke on other occasions in her job with the Anderson County Fire Department, but this was the first occasion where she had ever been in a position where she could not escape from the presence of smoke. (ROA 94,106,109 and 143).

Sandy testified that she left the air conditioner running in the truck (ROA 141) and she remained in the truck about 45 minutes in the smoke. (ROA 96). She complained that the smoke caused a bad headache, wheezing, coughing, and a sick feeling. (ROA 96-97).

After Larry Greer returned to the truck, the two drove to a residence to install a smoke detector. (ROA 97). After the installation, they returned to headquarters late in the day. (ROA 97). Sandy testified that she told the Administrative Assistant, Patty Ellison that she had been in smoke that afternoon. (ROA 97-98). Sandy testified that she reported the accident that same afternoon (ROA 98). Upon arrival at home, Sandy told her family about her smoke inhalation while at work. (ROA 103).

Sandy went to work the next day, although she was feeling bad. (ROA). The next day being a Saturday there was no work at the Anderson County Fire Department. (ROA 99). The next work day would have been a Monday which was Memorial Day (ROA 99) and Sandy Chamblee worked the following day which was Tuesday. (ROA 149).

Following the exposure to smoke and before an already scheduled visit the following week with Dr. Poon, the claimant took breathing treatments with her nebulizer and also took some Prednisone which she had on hand at home. (ROA 109-110).

Sandy testified that on June 1, she attended her doctor's appointment in Elberton, Georgia with Dr. Poon. (ROA 99). This was a follow-up appointment to discuss the results of her physical which was conducted by Dr. Poon on May 11, 2011. When Dr. Poon saw Sandy in his office, she was immediately admitted to the Elbert County Hospital due to her low oxygen level. (ROA 100). Sandy testified that she had never before missed appreciable time at her job due to asthma (ROA 101) and that when Dr. Poon put her in the Elbert County Hospital, she remained there for approximately 10 days. (ROA 101). She further testified that upon admission, no detailed history was taken from her at that time. (ROA 101).

Several days after she was discharged from the Elbert County Hospital, she was readmitted to the Anderson Area Medical Center on June 15. (ROA 102). She testified she had trouble

breathing upon admission to AnMed and that no detailed history was taken from her at that time either. (ROA 102-103). Sandy testified that she had been on nasal oxygen since being discharged from Elbert County Hospital (ROA 104) and that she had good days and bad days. (ROA 105). She was also required to use a rescue inhaler. (ROA 105).

Sandy was never able to return to work. (ROA 106).

Sandy testified that when she experienced the smoke exposure, she immediately knew that “something had happened” that had never happened before. (ROA 105-106). She also testified that she had not felt well enough to be employed since the time of her hospitalizations. (ROA 106).

When the issue was raised as to why did not get out of the truck during this event, she testified that there was more smoke outside than inside the truck (ROA 108) and also she was not sure where she would have gone if she had left the truck. (ROA 109). She testified that she did not see a doctor immediately after the incident because of her upcoming appointment with Dr. Poon. (ROA 109).

Sandy related how she had been treated at Duke University Hospital as a child for asthma. (ROA 112). She had also been treated for a lap band surgery in 2008. (ROA 129). In 2009, she had eight doctor visits because of asthma related incidents (ROA 131) and also had seen a pulmonologist in 2010. (ROA 132). On August 25, 2010, an AnMed Health medical summary indicated that her asthma had been well controlled until approximately 2 years earlier and she used a nebulizer approximately 3-4 times a day. (ROA 133). She acknowledged she had testified in her deposition that her asthma was well controlled prior to the incident. (ROA 134). “It was controlled, I never lost much work, I felt just fine.” (ROA 134). She testified on cross-examination that colds have caused her problems with asthma before. (ROA 137). Further in the hearing, Sandy advised that she was embarrassed that she could not get out and help Larry Greer during the fighting of the fire. People were calling to her and she had the vehicle parked where nobody could see her. (ROA 144).

Sandy testified that she was having symptoms when Larry Greer got back and she told him about it, but she did not call an ambulance because "I'm a firefighter." (ROA 145).

Sandy testified at length about her prior medical history. (ROA 112-134). No other events up through the time of the smoke exposure had kept her out of work or had put her on oxygen. (ROA 173). She testified at the hearing how Dr. Poon had talked to her and her husband and informed them that she would not be able to return to work as a firefighter. (ROA 177).

Maureen Chamblee, the claimant's mother testified that on the day of the incident Sandy came home and said "I have been in smoke today and I am in a mess." (ROA 179). She said that Sandy had told her exactly what had happened and that it was normal for Sandy to go to work when she did not feel like working. (ROA 180). She remembered Sandy and her husband telling her about the conversation with Dr. Poon about Sandy's inability for further employment as a firefighter. (ROA 183-184).

Larry Greer, who was an employee of the Anderson County Fire Department up till a short time before the hearing, testified that he knew Sandy had asthma and he had seen inhalers "all over her desk." (ROA 187). He corroborated that he went to the fire with Sandy (ROA 187-188), and that there was a "light haze" of smoke present. (ROA 190). He estimated that Sandy was in the truck approximately 40 minutes (ROA 191) and that on the way back she said she "wasn't feeling good." (ROA 193). Further Larry Greer testified that Sandy was already feeling bad, but that she had said again "I don't feel good." (ROA 194-195).

Larry Greer said he knew Sandy to be a truthful person and also knew her mother to be a truthful person. (ROA 196).

Timothy Dickson, an employee of the Anderson County Fire Department testified that he knew Sandy Chamblee had a history of asthma (ROA 198) and that he had never known her

to have any physical difficulties on the job. (ROA 199). He said that on June 20, 2011, Sandy called and texted him and that was his first knowledge of the smoke inhalation incident. (ROA 200-201). He further testified that Sandy Chamblee was a good employee. (ROA 202).

Jimmy Ray Sutherland testified that he was the Anderson County Fire Department Fire Chief and described in some detail how an Employee's First Report of Injury was filled out in his office. (ROA 206). (The significance of filing out an Employee's First Report of Injury is an allegation of error in this case which will be argued later.) Mr. Sutherland admitted that the Employee First Report of Injury stated that the employer was first notified on May 26, 2011. (ROA 208). He also testified that he knew Sandy Chamblee had a problem with asthma (ROA 209) and that she was always able to fight through it and come back to work. (ROA 209). He testified that this was the first time Sandy Chamblee had missed a long period of time away from work and that he believed her to be a truthful person. (ROA 209).

Dr. Poon, the physician who performed Sandy Chamblee's physical examination on May 11, before the incident and put her in the hospital after the incident gave a statement indicating that he knew Sandy Chamblee had a long history of asthma; however it was well-controlled to the extent that she was able to be employed. He also indicated in his statement that her condition was much worse after the event which caused her hospitalization. Finally he stated that her prior asthma was aggravated to the extent that she was not able to work full-time after the incident. (ROA 243-246.)

Dr. Michael Spandorfer, the Plaintiff's expert, testified by deposition. He testified that he had reviewed the records from Elbert Hospital and believed that they were incomplete as a full history was not taken on the claimant. (ROA 280-281.)

Dr. Spandorfer testified that he believed that Sandy Chamblee's asthma had worsened after the alleged incident because before the incident she was able to be employed and since the smoke

exposure, she required oxygen and was not able to be employed. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 284,289,290, 201). Dr. Spandorfer indicated that this was because her lungs had become sensitized. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer, ROA 285):

Furthermore, Dr. Spandorfer testified that even though Sandy Chamblee's spirometry had remained constant both and after the incident, but since she now required oxygen therapy, she had either developed a hole in her heart or the loss of lung function. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 290). In other words, according to him, the claimant suffered either a cardiac event or a loss of lung function. (There is no evidence of a cardiac event in the record).

Dr. Spandorfer further testified that Sandy Chamblee's condition was now inconsistent with employment. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 302-303,309) He also assigned her a 55 percent impairment rating to the lungs. (see Dr. Spandorfer deposition ROA 292).

Dr. Spandorfer further explained when an individual had impaired lungs, it did not take much change in lung function to make a lung condition much worse. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 304-305).

Furthermore, Dr. Spandorfer testified with exposure to smoke, a very short time as short as 30 seconds to sometimes minutes were sufficient to change lung function. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 306-307).

Dr. Spandorfer testified that he did believe to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the claimant's exposure to smoke as described to him did aggravate her prior existing asthmatic condition as stated (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 307-309)

Also Dr. Spandorfer noted that when Sandy Chamblee visited Dr. Poon the day of her hospitalization in Elberton, that she was diagnosed with status asthmaticus, which is a medical

emergency. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 299-301). He also indicated there is no record of her ever having had this condition before. (see deposition of Dr. Spandorfer ROA 301.)

The Defendant's expert, Dr. Feltman testified by deposition and made several points which the undersigned believes are significantly helpful in the claimant's claim.

First, he testified that Sandy Chamblee's asthma was poorly controlled even before her exposure to smoke on May 26. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman ROA 642).

Furthermore, he testified that some people can get an exacerbation of asthma by smelling burning leaves. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 646).

Dr. Feltman further testified that some people with an exacerbation of asthma wait longer to go to the hospital than do others. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 649). When asked was it an everyday thing for an asthmatic to get a cold or viral infection, Dr. Feltman stated,

Q. So, that's an everyday thing for an asthmatic is to get a cold or a viral Infection?

A. It's not an everyday thing, but it can happen, yes.

Q. Well, anybody can get one, asthmatic or not?

A. Yes.

See Dr. Feltman's deposition ROA 650).

Dr. Feltman testified that people do "stupid stuff like working through asthma." (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 652). Dr. Feltman also confirmed that there is not a lot of difference in Sandy Chamblee's spirometry reading between 2005 and the one taken after the alleged incident and that they were bad both times. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 653).

Dr. Feltman again repeated that breathing in smoke can make a person have an exacerbation of asthma. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 653).

Dr. Feltman testified that the claimant Sandy Chamblee was already in exacerbation due to the cold before she was exposed to smoke. At that point, he was asked "but would you at least give me the point it would have made her exacerbation worse?" Dr. Feltman replied, "I gave you that point." (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 653-654).

Dr. Feltman further testified that he has known people to have exacerbation of asthma, then get slightly improved, then exacerbate again due to a late response. He further stated it is very common for asthmatics to fluctuate from day to day. (see deposition of Dr. Feltman, ROA 664).

Some of the most interesting comments by Dr. Feltman, which were never specifically addressed by the Hearing Commissioner in his decision, are as follows:

A. Many asthmatic people work when they shouldn't.

Q. Well, let me ask you this. Have you ever had a case where a person had a cold or upper respiratory infection and was exposed to smoke at the same time; have you ever had a case like that in your practice?

A. It's possible, but I can't remember offhand. If you're telling me is smoking good for you, I already told you it is not.

Dr. Feldman's Deposition (employer expert)

ROA 668-669

Q. Have you ever had a person who had a cold and then was unfortunately involved in a house fire? Perhaps not as a firefighter, but perhaps as a citizen.

A. I've admitted many patients with industrial exposures to the hospital, absolutely, with asthma preexisting and without.

Dr. Feldman's Deposition (employer expert)

ROA 669-670

Q. All right, have you ever had a case with an industrial exposure where on top of that the person in question had exposure to smoke?

A. Yes of course. I mean, I've done many industrial exposures to smoking, absolutely. If it was a massive use—massive smoke inhalation and usually people can get—get very sick. It's not like burning leaves.

Q. Okay. All right, would you agree that if a person has a cold and has an industrial exposure to smoke, the smoke would cause their asthma to get worse?

A. Yes, it's different circumstances. It's a overwhelming exposures we're talking about industrial exposure. It's not like a trivial smoking exposure that Ms. Chamblee has described or burning leaves. These people get--these people can get real sick.

Dr. Feltman's Deposition

ROA 670-671

Q. Where do you draw the line between a trivial exposure to smoke and an overwhelming exposure to smoke?

A. People get sick very, very, very, quickly, almost instantaneously because it was not trivial exposure. With a trivial exposure, they don't know.

Q. If they get sick due to a significant exposure to smoke, do they know it almost instantly?

A. Yes.

Dr. Feldman's Deposition

ROA 673

The above is submitted as a summary of the testimony presented in this case.

The following facts in this case are beyond serious dispute. On May 26, 2011, the claimant was an employee of the employer and was traveling in an employer's vehicle to install a smoke detector within the course and scope of her employment. (ROA 93-94). The employee had a prior history of asthma since childhood. (ROA 92). (Testimony from at two co-workers was given that she had asthma inhalers lying all over her desk; (ROA 187) but that she had never missed any appreciable time from work. ROA 209). The claimant testified that she always attempted to work through her asthma and while working for the employer, she had never been in a position where she was exposed to smoke and could not escape to a safe place. (ROA 94,106,109, and 143) The claimant testified also that the exposure to smoke caused her to feel sick, a fact which she mentioned to a co-worker, (ROA 193), and to her family when she got home. (ROA 179).

The claimant further testified that she had reported for a physical examination on May 11, 2011 several weeks before the alleged incident. On June 1, 2011 within a few days after the alleged when she reported for her follow-up visit and her same physician was concerned enough about her condition to be hospitalize her immediately for ten days. (ROA 243-246). It was undisputed in the testimony that the employee had been employed by the employer for 26 years (ROA 91), and was viewed as being a very good employee. (ROA 202). Furthermore, at least two of the employer's witness testified that the employee, Sandy Chamblee was a truthful individual.(ROA 196, 209). One of them also testified as to the truthfulness of her mother.(ROA 196).

Under workmen's compensation law, the Supreme Court sits for review of errors of law only, and in performing such function the Supreme Court must review the record of evidence, bearing in mind that scope of inquiry is limited to ascertaining whether there is any competent testimony reasonable tending to support Industrial Commission's findings of fact, which must be based on

evidence and cannot rest on surmise, conjecture or speculation. Code 1942, Section 7035-64. See *Sligh v. Newberry Electric Cooperative*, 58S.E. 2d 675.

The Workmen's Compensation Act will be liberally construed to include injured workmen within its protection rather than to exclude them. See *Cagle v. Clinton Cotton Mills*, 56 S.E. 2d 747, 215 S.C. 93

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