ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

RECEIVED

APR 11 2016

Appellate Case No. 2015-001862
SCWCC File No. 1107022

SC Court of Appeals

Sandy Chamblee, Appellant,

v.

Anderson County Fire Department, Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Ian C. Gohean, Esquire
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley
872 S. Pleasantburg Drive
Greenville, South Carolina 29607
(864) 272-2664
Attorneys for Respondents

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2015-001862

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

Dr. Spandorfer admits there is essentially no change to Appellant's *objective* lung function tests from 2005 until after the 2011 smoke incident, and he admits that he was provided a very flawed and inaccurate history by Appellant. Nonetheless, Dr. Spandorfer ultimately stood by his causation opinion. Dr. Spandorfer's opinion is not consistent with the medical records, and it is extremely weak, especially when compared to the unequivocal testimony and opinions issued by Dr. Gregory Feldman.

Appellant presented to Dr. Gregory Feldman at Upstate Lung and Critical Care Specialists in Spartanburg on March 5, 2014, for an independent medical evaluation at the referral of Respondents. (R. pp. 873-880) After evaluating Appellant, Dr. Feldman issued a letter and written statement opining the following:

Ms. Chamblee is an unfortunate 48 year old female, lifelong non-smoker, with long history of asthma since the age of six weeks. She has had numerous asthma attacks and exacerbations of her asthma throughout her adolescence. She reports that her asthma has gotten better, but about one week after her exposure to smoke, her condition deteriorated. She is attributing this to the incident in question. On May 26, 2011, Ms. Chamblee was in her fire truck, when they had stopped to assist with some fire in a field. She stayed in the truck for approximately 45 minutes, about 100 yards or so away from the fire. Ms. Chamblee had also been suffering from persistent "cold" symptoms for about a week at that time. According to her medical records, she was admitted to Elbert Memorial Hospital on June 1, 2011, with severe asthma exacerbation. At that time, according to Ms. Chamblee, she started to have some attacks in between for about a month prior to her admission. To date, asthma is still not controlled. ***With regard to exposure to smoke, it is unlikely that smoke exposure has caused or contributed to her asthma.*** She did not develop an immediate bronchospasm as one would expect in asthma exacerbation secondary to smoke inhalation. ***She had poorly controlled asthma for weeks prior to exposure and had ongoing "cold" symptoms for several days prior to exposure.*** There is no doubt that Ms. Chamblee is suffering from lifelong and progressive asthma, but it is multifactorial and not properly managed at this time. (*Id.*, emphasis added)

The parties deposed Dr. Feldman on October 20, 2014, and Dr. Feldman testified to the following:

This is a patient that has a very, very severe asthma, longstanding asthma. She has a terrible breathing test preceding her asthma – preceding her fire, and she continued to have a pretty bad cause. The fact that she got in to the hospital, it didn't happen after she was exposed to fire. It happened like a week later. In addition, she has a viral infection, cold symptoms, which is far more likely than fire that caused it, which is what generally we see in the pulmonary practice when severe asthmatics get upper respiratory infection, that would probably put you in the hospital. Far more likely than a fire. (R. pp. 626-627)

Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant suffered from a cold during the week of the smoke exposure, and the cold was far more likely than the smoke exposure to have caused an aggravation of Appellant's asthma. Dr. Feldman testified that the cold causes mucus inflammation, and the mucus then plugs the airways and produces difficulty breathing. Dr. Feldman testified that, if the smoke caused a permanent aggravation of Appellant's asthma, he would have expected an "*immediate asthma attack within like seconds or minutes.*" (R. p. 628) Dr. Feldman testified that, even if we assume there was an aggravation of Appellant's asthma, it is *99.9% likely that it was caused by her upper respiratory infection (cold), and .01% likely that it was caused by the smoke exposure.* (R. p. 635) Dr. Feldman testified that his opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty is that any smoke exposure on May 26, 2011, *did not cause or contribute to Appellant's asthma condition.* (R. pp. 635-636)

Dr. Feldman reviewed the deposition transcript of Dr. Spandorfer and testified he disagrees with Dr. Spandorfer's causation opinion. Dr. Feldman testified Appellant was many yards away from the fire, Appellant already had significant preexisting symptoms, and Appellant's spirometry test from after the smoke incident "has not changed" when compared to the spirometry test performed in 2005. (R. pp. 636-637) Dr. Feldman agreed that the cause of any aggravation of Appellant's asthma was likely mucus production, but Dr. Feldman testified: "Well, I agree it was mucus, and – and it overwhelmingly likely was

a viral infection that caused it. It's not even in my – in my judgment, *not even close.*" (R. pp. 638-639, emphasis added)

Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant's asthma has been under-treated in the past, and he testified that upper respiratory infections are *overwhelmingly the most common cause of clinical deterioration in asthma patients.* (R. p. 667) Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant's upper respiratory infection "preexisted the smoke, it continued, and then she finally was so sick that she had to be admitted, okay. *If she come to me the day before the fire, I probably would have admitted her too.*" (R. pp. 640-641, emphasis added) Dr. Feldman further testified:

And I'm telling you, that the most common aggravation of preexisting condition is viral infection. And *the fact that there was some smoking seven days prior [to Appellant being admitted to the hospital], okay, it is almost impossible to assign significance to that when we know that she has a viral infection, and that's the most common cause of exacerbation.*" (R. p. 660, emphasis added)

On further questioning about the smoke causing an exacerbation of Appellant's asthma, Dr. Feldman stated: "If she would have gotten sick on the spot, cannot breathe, called the ambulance, I would say you're right. But seven days later, it's an *utter speculation and unlikely.*" (R. p. 666, emphasis added) Dr. Feldman further stated: "The greatest majority of the people today in every hospital in the United States of America and every other country are because of viral infection.... People are in the hospital today with asthma overwhelmingly because of a viral upper respiratory infection. That's a *number one cause of asthma admission.*" (R. p. 667, emphasis added) Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant had indicated she had a bad cold at the time of the fire incident, and Dr. Feldman testified: "When people say 'real bad cold,' what they really mean, 'really bad asthma,' okay. Because they ascribe it to cold, when *in reality, their symptoms of asthma got bad.*"

That's what they feel.” (R. p. 677, emphasis added) Again, Dr. Feldman's testimony is unequivocal, and it is far more convincing than the opinions of Dr. Spandorfer, especially when read in the context of the medical evidence in the claim.

Lastly, Appellant's family physician, Dr. Poon, issued a causation statement on August 1, 2014, stating that Appellant's "...exposure to smoke ... most probably caused an aggravation of her prior asthmatic condition ...” (R. pp. 244-246) Dr. Poon is not a pulmonologist, none of his records contemporaneous with the alleged date of injury even mention the alleged exposure to smoke, and his statement is signed more than 3 years after the fact. More importantly, Dr. Poon, himself, admits he is not the best physician to address causation of Appellant's issues. In a letter dated May 14, 2012, Dr. Poon states: “Since she was under the care of her pulmonologist prior to and after this incident, *I think her pulmonologist will be the best to consult. He can provide all your needed answers in detail.*” (R. p. 863, emphasis added) Appellant's personal pulmonologist was Dr. Mohan. Despite this statement from Dr. Poon, *there is absolutely no causation statement from Dr. Mohan in the medical records.* Dr. Mohan was Appellant's personal pulmonologist *prior to the incident*, and he treated her in the hospital and in his office *directly after the incident*, yet he has not linked Appellant's asthma condition to the alleged smoke exposure. Respondents contend this is a very important piece of evidence, or lack thereof.

e. The evidence does not even establish that there was a permanent aggravation of Appellant's asthma condition in May or June of 2011.

It is clear from the record that Appellant's asthma condition was severe and undertreated for many years prior to her hospitalization on June 1, 2011. Appellant has admittedly pushed her asthma condition back and attempted to fight through it over the years, refusing to submit to her condition or admit the severity of her situation.

According to Dr. Feldman *and* Dr. Spandorfer, Appellant's 2005 spirometry readings were already as bad as her post-accident readings, and there is no objective evidence that her condition is any worse now than it was ten years ago. According to Dr. Feldman, Appellant would likely have been hospitalized if she had presented to Dr. Feldman *prior* to the smoke incident in May of 2011.

Despite Appellant's testimony that she wears oxygen "most all the time" now, which she did not wear prior to June 1, 2011, there is video of Appellant singing karaoke in the record, and she is not wearing oxygen, nor does she appear to have any issues singing two complete songs. (R. pp. 104-105; video) A review of the evidence in its entirety does not support that Appellant's current condition is any different than her condition was on May 25, 2011, or in 2005 for that matter.

f. When the evidence is viewed in its entirety, there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's finding that Appellant did not suffer a compensable injury by accident or aggravation of her underlying asthma condition on May 26, 2011.

The question before the Court is simple: Is there substantial evidence in the record to support the Commission's denial of Appellant's claim? When the evidence is viewed in its entirety, Respondents maintain that there can be no doubt that substantial evidence exists to support the Commission's findings. Summarily, the evidence in this claim reveals the following sequence of events:

- Appellant is a lifelong and severe asthmatic;
- Appellant's asthma worsened after her 2001 pregnancy, and she began treating with a pulmonologist (Dr. Hand) at least as early as 2005 (*contrary to her deposition testimony that she never treated with a pulmonologist until after May 26, 2011*);
- Appellant also suffers from numerous related medical issues, including GERD, severe allergies, obstructive sleep apnea, and sinus troubles;

- From 2006 onward, Appellant regularly presented to her family physician and ENT with complaints of asthma-related issues;
- In August of 2010, Appellant was again referred to a pulmonologist by her family physician, and she began treatment with Dr. Mohan (*the second pulmonologist she treated with prior to May 26, 2011, contrary to her deposition testimony*);
- Nine months before the date of her alleged accident, Appellant indicated to Dr. Mohan that her asthma had been worsening over the course of the previous two years;
- In the beginning of May, 2011, Appellant developed what she referred to as a severe cold;
- According to Dr. Feldman, asthmatics often refer to their symptoms as “cold” symptoms, when in reality, they are suffering from issues with their asthma;
- According to Dr. Feldman, colds, or upper respiratory tract infections, are overwhelmingly the number one cause of asthma exacerbations;
- Appellant is admittedly a person who tries to push her asthma back and avoid treatment if possible, as she has done her entire life;
- According to Dr. Feldman, it is very common for asthmatic patients to state and believe that they are better than they actually are, as they become accustomed to feeling poorly on account of their asthma;
- On May 26, 2011, Appellant presented to the location of a field fire, but she sat in the truck with the air conditioner on circulate and was parked a great distance from the fire itself;
- According to Larry Greer, Jr., there was a light haze of smoke in the air, but even the individuals outside did not require masks;
- Appellant did not move the truck further from the fire, nor did she exit the truck to walk a further distance away at any point;
- When Mr. Greer returned to the truck, Appellant made no indication that her asthma symptoms had flared up, nor did she have any noticeable symptoms of an asthma exacerbation;
- According to Dr. Feldman, if Appellant had suffered an aggravation of her asthma condition on May 26, 2011, he would have expected an immediate and severe response;
- After leaving the fire, Appellant went on to install smoke detectors at a private residence, as previously planned – she did not request medical attention or request

to return to the Fire Department;

- Appellant did not seek medical attention following the incident, and she missed no time from work until she presented for a pre-scheduled visit to her family doctor on June 1, 2011;
- On June 1, 2011, Appellant was admitted to the hospital, and her medical records (including 10 days of hospital records) do not mention the alleged smoke exposure;
- In fact, medical records from Appellant's subsequent hospitalization specifically indicate Appellant was *not* exposed to any chemicals, fumes, dust, etc.;
- The medical records *do* portray numerous cold-like symptoms, consistent with Dr. Feldman's causation opinion, and the records indicate Appellant's symptoms had been occurring for a *month (consistent with the timeframe of Appellant's cold, and inconsistent with the smoke exposure one week prior)*;
- There is not a single mention of the alleged smoke exposure in any of Appellant's medical records until more than 18 months later, when she presented to Dr. Spandorfer for an IME at the referral of her attorney;
- Dr. Spandorfer, Appellant's expert, admits that there is essentially no difference in Appellant's objective spirometry tests from before and after the fire incident;
- Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant would most likely have been admitted to the hospital if she had presented to him *before* the fire incident;
- Dr. Feldman testified that Appellant's upper respiratory infection (cold) is 99.9% likely to be the cause of Appellant's admittance to the hospital;
- Dr. Mohan, Appellant's personal pulmonologist who treated her before and after the fire, has not opined that Appellant's condition was caused or aggravated by the fire incident.

When the evidence is viewed in its entirety, it is clear that Appellant's case was properly denied by the Commission, and there is certainly substantial evidence to support the Commission's Order. The Commission appropriately summarized the claim in

Finding of Fact No. 28:

The medical records are replete with references to [Appellant]'s asthma. Not only does the narrative that results when one reviews the chronological history of her asthma not support a finding for [Appellant], it paints a very clear picture that her underlying health conditions –

unrelated to the events of May 26, 2011 – are much more likely the cause of her current condition. (R. p. 36)

Accordingly, Respondents request an order affirming the Decision and Order of the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

II.

THE COMMISSION PROPERLY ALLOWED TESTIMONY RELATED TO THE ISSUE OF WHEN THE EMPLOYER WAS NOTIFIED OF APPELLANT'S ALLEGED INJURY. EVEN ASSUMING, ARGUENDO, THAT APPELLANT NOTIFIED THE EMPLOYER OF HER ALLEGATIONS ON MAY 26, 2011, THERE IS STILL SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S ORDER.

First, Appellant has not preserved this argument for appellate review. Appellant did not object to any of the proffered testimony or Exhibits during the hearing held before the Single Commissioner, nor did Appellant object to the consideration of any of the evidence by the Single Commissioner. If Appellant believed the testimony and evidence was improper, an objection must have been made in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (holding that to be preserved for appellate review, an issue must have been "(1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity"). As Appellant never raised any objection to the testimony and evidence she now asserts was improperly allowed and considered, she cannot raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

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